District 6: The North End

District 6, the North End, is located in the north central
part of St. Paul, north of downtown. It encompasses a large
area bounded by the southern shore of Lake Como, Maryland -

Avenue, and the city limits at Larpenteur Avenue on the north,
Lexington Parkway on the west, the Burlington Northern Railroad
tracks on the south, and Interstate 35E on the east. The district
is comprised Targely of the neighborhood known as the North End
(east of Dale Street), but also includes the Warrendale area south
of Lake Como. District 6 has the second Targest population of the
city's seventeen planning districts, with nearly thirty thousand
residents. It contains three Targe cemeteries: Oakland, founded
in 1853 as a city cemetery and planned by prominent landscape
architect Horace W.S. Cleveland; Elmhurst, established in 1865

as a German Lutheran cemetery; and Calvary, a Catholic cemetery
initiated on this site in 1866. The district also contains some
industry located along two Burlington Northern railroad lines and
one set,of Soo L%ne tracks, and major commercial strips along Rice
and Jackson Streets with additional smaller business districts
along Dale Street, Front Avenue, and Larpenteur Avenue.

The North End, traditionally a Qorking class neighborhood, was
settled extensively in the 1870's and 1880's by German, Austrian, aiid
Swedish immigrants who found jobs in the railroad shops and related
industries located in the area. After the turn of the century,
eastern Europeans,‘@articuTar]y Romanians, joined the earlier
residents of the Nérth End. The area was annexed by the city of
St. Paul when the city 1imits were changed in 1872, 1873, 1885,
and 1887. Several of the district's major traffic arteries, including
Rice Street, Como Avenue, Jackson Street, and Dale Street, were
serviced by streetcars built between 1887 and 1923.

The Historic Sites Survey of the North End identified large

concentrations of Victorian working class homes, most of woodframe
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construction built from 1880 to 1800, in the area south of Arlington
Avenue. Many of the oldest homes are located aroynd Qakland Cemetery
in the southeast corner of the district. This neighborhood was
p?obab]y developed soon after the Jackson Street railroad shops
were established just south of District 6 near Jackson Street in
1882. Simple 1 to 1% story woodframe "mechanics’ cottages"” are
Tocated in large numbers along Agate and Sylvan Streets and Lyton
Place. Working class housing was also concentrated along Cottage
Avenue near a second set of Burlington Narthern tracks runming east
and west, just north of Maryland Avenue. * Although most of the
modest Victorian housing in the North End has been alteredrthh
the addition of asbestos siding and is therefore not as s1gn1f1cant
as the working class housing in Dlstr1ct§ 7 and 9, several houées
including those at 271 W. Burgess Street, 93 W. Atwater Streeti
823 N. Stellar Place, and 798 N. Park Street are basically intact.
The Historic Sites Survey staff discovered a few small houses
‘Eonstructed of soft, common brick, and several houses that are now

situated either above or below the present'street level, indicating p—

that they were constructed before the streets were graded at their
present level.

In addition to the large concentration of small, somewhat altered
nineteenth century houses, the aréa south of Arlington Avenue contains
a sprinkling of larger houses. These include a row of specu]atorf
built patternbook houses on West Burgess Street (the most intact *
being 294 W. Burgess Street); the home of German hardware dealer
Hiller Hoffman at 178 W. Manitoba; and a group of pressed brick
houses located in the neighborhood of Albemarle and Geranium Streets.

The northern portion of the North End neighborhood, above
Arlington Avenue and east of Dale Street, is primarily a residential
neighborhood developed between 1910 and 1950. The Survey staff did
%dentify a few houses which predate their neighbors and may be early
farmhouses. These houses include 198 E. Arlington Avenue, 1265 N.
Mackubin Street, and 583 W. Maryland Avenue. With the exception of
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these houses, the Charles Elwood-cdesigned small bungalow at 1286
N! Dale Street, and a few interesting bungalows and period revival
houses such as those Tocated along Wheelock Parkway, most of thg
houses in the northern portion are undistinguished, post—Woerfwér
I1 suburban tract houses. [
District 6 west of Dale Street contains an interesting mixture
of structures illustrating several phases of settlement. There are
a few late nineteenth century homes of modest size Tocated in ﬁbe

i

neighborhood of Front Avenue, immediately north of Calvary cemetery.

These may have been built by employees .of the nearby railroad sﬁbps
and other industries. The most important of these are the Wargéﬁy
intact neighboring houses at 1010, 1012, and 1014 Front Avenue. - North
and east of this area are a number of buhgaWows and mildly Colonial
Revival houses, the largest and some of the oldest 1ocated along

Como Avenue. Finally, in the westernmost corner of District 6 fs
warrendaie,‘aiffftyntwo acre area on‘the>sbu£hern shore of Lake

Como , piatted-in T884 as an exclusive residential suburb. Although

13. 1259 W. Como Boulevard, Charles and Minnie Wallingford

House, 1886, design attributed to Charles Wallingford.
(Photo by Patricia Murphy)
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Warrendale did not become the large fashionable suburb which developers,
envisioned, a number of ornate Queen Anne style mansions were constructed
on W. Como Boulevard and Van Slyke Avenue in the 1880's and 1890's. ;
Several of these were designed by St. Paul architects Augustus Gauge%

and Charles Wallingford who both Tived in Warrendale (no. 13). Mahy of these
homes remain, and the Historic Sites Survey staff has prepared a )
thematic National Register nomination which includes the most intact

of these houses.

3

14, 1269 W. Como Boulevard, Hause built for Cary Warren of
the Warrendale Improvement Company, 1886, designed by
Augustus F. Gauger. (Photo by Gary Phelps)

With the exception of a few scattered neighborhood corner commer-
cial blocks, most nineteenth century commercial buildings in the
North End are Tocated along Jackson and Rice Streets. Interesting
v1ctérian buildings still standing on Jackson Street include the
orna?e brick Ackermann Block at the southeast corner of Jackson and



Sycamore (1886), and the woodframe Joseph Wimmer Building at 1052

N. Jackson Street (1884). Rice Street contains a greater concentration
of Victorian and turn of the century commercial bui]dings ranging

from several woodframe Ita11anate bu11d1ngs to Targe brick commercial
b1ocks w1th massive pressed metal cornwces - The buildings at

884~ 887 ‘Rice Street and 1888 Rice Street are interesting examples

of woodframe commercial-buildings constructed ‘circa 1890.

Examp1es of the- typés “of industry whiCh’atthécted immigrant
workers to the North Endw&rea]so 1dent1f1ed by the H1stor1c Sites
Survey;, 1nclud1ng two ra11road shop comp]exes 1mportant to . the
settlement of the area, the prev1ously ment1oned Jackson Street
Shops dnd the Great Northern Dale Steet shops 1ocated at Da]e and
M1nnehaha which are both located: technxca11y in District 7, south of the
North Ehd. Other North End industrial complexes which remain from
the turh of the century include the Northwestern Twine and Cordage
Company at 509 Front Avenue near Kent Street, and the St. Paul
Foundry Company (now Maxson Corporation) whose headquarters buildings
at 500 W. Como Avenuewere designed by Clarence H. Johnston, Sr., in
1907.

Finally, the Historic Sites Survey staff identified a numberﬂof
churches and other institutions in District 6 which are historically
or architecturally interesting. These include the Church of St.
Bernard, at 197 W. Geranium Street (no. 15), a sophisticated and unusual
German Catholic church designed by architect John Jager and built
in 1905; St. Mary's Romanian Orthodox Church at 854 Woodbridge Street,
a concrete block church with characteristic eastern European onion
dome built in 1914; the Zion German Evangelical‘Church at 776 N.
Jackson Street which was designed by Augustus Gauger and built in
1888; and the chapels at Elmhurst and Oakland Cemeteries. In ad-
dition, the Survey staff discovered that the stucco-covered building
at 786 N. Agate Street was built circa 1889 to serve as the St. Paul



15. 197 W. Geranium Avenue, St. Bernard's Church, 1905,
designed by John Jager. (Photo by Susan Granger)

Homeopathic Hospital, and later became the first campus of Concordia
CoT]%ge. District 6 contains one historically significant fire :
station, Engine Company #22 at 293 W. Front Avenue built in 1887.

At present there are no buildings in District 6 ]iste% on the
NatiqnaT Register of Historic Places. Following is a list of sites
whic% the Historic Sites Survey staff believes are eligible for
listing with the National Register of Historic Places and/or the
St. Paul Heritage Preservation Commission, and a 1ist of additional
sites of major significance. Approximate location of the sites are

shown on the accompanying map.
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DISTRICT 6

Sites Already Designated - none

Sites Eligible for Designation

784-786 N. Agate Street, St. Paul Homeopathic Hospital

Jackson Street, Zion German Evangelical bLutheran Church

Jackson Street, Ackerman Brothers Saloon and. Grocery

854 N. Woodbridge Street, St. Mary's Romanian Orthodox Church

Augustus Gauger House

William H. Amos House

1.

2. 500 W. Como Avenue, St. Paul Foundry Company
3. 1259 W. Como Boulevard, Charles A. Wallingford House
4. 1269 W. Como Boulevard, House

5. 1510 N. Dale Street, Elmhurst Cemetery €hapel
6. 293 W. Front Avenue, Chemical House #4

7. 197 W. Geranium Avenue, St. Bernard's Church
8. 776 N.

9. 780 N.

Store

10. 842 N. Rice Street, Arvidson Block
11.

Additional Sites of Major Significance

12. 1131 N. Argyle Street, Bailey/RBee‘man House
13. 294 W. Burgesé Street, House
14, 1051 W. Como Avenue, St. Andrew's Church
15. 965 E. Como Boulevard, Sylvester 3. Carter House
16. 1183 W. Como Boulévard,
17. 1185 W. Como Boulevard,

18. 1219 W. Como Boulevard, House
19. 1251 W. Como Boulevard, House
20. 1285 W. Como Boulevard,

Wessel Houge
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21.
22.
23.
24.
25,
26.
27.

28.
29.
30.
31.
32.
33.
34.
35.
36.
37.

1286 N. Dale Street, House

509 W. Front Avenue, Northwestern Twine and Cordage Company
1010, 1012, and 1014 W. Front Avenue, Houses

1157 N. Galtier Street, House

925 N. Jackson Street, Oakland Cemetery and Chapel

1237 N. Jackson Street, Charles Andreen House and Shed

1224 N. Lexington Parkway, Como-Harriet Inter-urban Line Streetear
Waiting Station and bridges on Beulah Lane and Lexington Parkway

112 W. Manitoba Avenue, House

118 W. Manitoba Avenue, Hiller Hoffman House
947 N. Marion Street, Frank Hollanitsch House
951 N. Marion Street, Charles Schlader House
1577 N. Marion Street, John Baumann House

538 W. Maryland Avenue, John Lorens House
1093 N. Oxford Street, House

786 N. Rice Street, Lyton Farmhouse

1048 W. Van Slyke Avenue, House

1062 W. Van Slyke Avenue, Matt Jensen House

Potential Historic Districts”

Warrendale Thematic Nomination
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MAP 6
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